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Figure 116: Raised platform and ubiquitous curve ended steel pipe hand rails in 1960s. 

The long concrete “prow” type of Safety Zone, (in conjunction with galvanised iron pipe rails 
fabricated in separate ‘loop’ sections), was first introduced about 1961, evidently in response to 
the increased risk to waiting passengers, and as a means of reducing interruptions to traffic, as 
passengers alight.232 

 

Figure 117:  Current form of yellow-painted concrete ‘prow’ safety zone protection, and  

                                                 

232 MMTB Annual Report, 1961 
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In the 1980s several large steel shelters were constructed within widened safety zones at 
Museum Station in Swanston Street as well as 35 smaller modular shelters. A special shelter and 
platform with a centre-island taking up most of the roadway in Elizabeth Street was constructed 
at the terminus opposite Flinders Street Station, initially a small structure, but then replaced in 
the 1980s with a large architectural piece intended to blend with the station, and most recently 
the Robert Risson Tram stop..233 

 

Figure 118: Standard pattern MMTB waiting shelter 

With the termination of many tram routs at the top of Swanston Street, and soon after the 
electrification of the Swanston Street and St Kilda Road cable tramways, a dedicated signal box 
was constructed in 1928, combining a waiting shelter and conveniences. It was controlled the 
shunting and dispatch of the increasing volume of electric trams arriving from the southern 
suburbs.  

 

                                                 

233 MMTB Annual Report 1982 p.13; 1984 p.5 
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Figure 119: Swanston St Signal box and shelter. 

One of the greatest changes to tram stops has been the advent of raised platforms and protected 
areas associated with level loading on low floor trams. The initial impetus for this may have been 
the conversion of the Port Melbourne and St. Kilda lines to light rail, with the construction of 
dedicated lower platforms either replacing the originals, or added to the end of existing 
platforms. This led to the Superstop platforms with raised platforms in the roadway, somewhat 
wider than the former safety zones, having protective railings and shelters, as well as electronic 
route displays. The first of the Superstops, the Collins Street/Town Hall site, won the John 
Truscott Design Foundation award. 

The St Vincent’s Plaza interchange is within the centre road reserve on Victoria Parade Fitzroy, 
and provides for interchange of trams heading up Brunswick Street and east along Victoria 
Street. Initially provided with a ‘chalet’ form of open sided timber shelter on brick half walls, the 
interchange was redeveloped in 2002 with a third track for shunting and bypass. The shelter was 
moved from the north to the south side of the tracks and restored at the time with the brickwork 
replaced. 234 

The Elizabeth Street Terminus recently given the name “Robert Risson Tram Terminus” has 
been the terminus of the Sydney Road routes fro the cable days. It has had a number of make-
overs with some large arch roofed shelters in the 1980s, and the more modest, but still 
substantial steel and glass cantilevered roof today. 

                                                 

234 Lovell Chen, Yarra Connections, Nov 2002, Yarra Trams Newsletter. 
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Figure 120: Elizabeth Street in c1900 (SLB H3171) and in 2009 (southernthunderer.com.au) 

In April 1991, the Swanston St Terminus in Victoria Street (where trams would turn for 
shunting) was closed following the death of a passenger in 1989 and a further accident in early 
1991.235 

The Melbourne University tram terminus was developed in about 2000, to provide for the busy 
student traffic, and also for terminating services to the south of the city. It has become the fourth 
busiest on the system, and included the first island platform tram stop. 

 

Figure 121: Artists impression of proposed Melbourne Uni terminus 
http://www.yarratrams.com.au/desktopdefault.aspx/tabid-105/99_read-350/ 

 

 

                                                 

235 Trolley Wire November 1991. p.7. 
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6.3.6 Substations 

The expansion of the electric tram network under the MMTB created a need for greater capacity 
and control of the electricity distribution system. This led to a series of new substations and 
refitting of existing substations. As technology improved and various installations degraded, a 
variety of new installations were also carried out which upgraded some equipment.  

All tramways utilised direct current (DC), and originally power stations generated DC current 
and sold DC current to users. However, alternate current (AC) technology was better for 
generation and transmission and so was converted back to DC at the tramway substations. 
(However modern DC transmission at very high voltages is used these days). Electricity supply 
was purchased from the railway supply (Newport Power Station) and later SEC generators, and 
transmitted via the power existing grid. The exception was the North Melbourne and Essendon 
Tramway which had its own steam powered generators as it also provided a domestic electric 
supply.  

The earliest systems used rotary converters which employed a mechanical system, using an 
electric motor to drive a generator. The initial installations by the tramway trusts were generally 
co-located with the tram depots. For example Malvern, Kew, Elsternwick, Hawthorn and Coburg 
had rotary converters. Second hand rotary converters were installed at Preston and Brunswick 
substations but have been removed. 

 

Figure 122: Rotary Converter at Hawthorn Tram Depot (Museum Victoria Reg. No: MM 004054) 

In the 1930s, despite the depression, new technology was introduced with mercury arc 
converters, which employed a process involving ionising mercury vapour. These were smaller 
and were initially housed in glass bulb, and later a steel tank. The mercury arc rectifier was 
invented by Peter Cooper Hewitt in 1902 and further developed throughout the 1920s and 1930s 
by researchers in both Europe and North America.236 

                                                 

236 Baker, Ray Stannard (June 1903). "Peter Cooper Hewitt - Inventor; Three Great Achievements In Electrical 
Science". McClure's Magazine XXI: 172–178. http://books.google.com/?id=ZbYbHQiLtRYC&pg=RA1-PA172. 
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Figure 123: Mercury Arch rectifier in Preston Substation (photo Robert Green) 

 

Figure 124: List of substations in use 1984 (copy provided by Robert Green) 

The first example of this technology was installed in Holden Street, and later moved to Preston. 
Further installations were made during WWII with the Maribyrnong substation, and then the 
Mercury Arch rectifier at East Kew. From the 1960s the system progressed to solid state silicone 
diode rectifiers.  

Silicon diodes are now used with very extensive use of electronics to control switching and 
require much less space.   Melbourne had to reequip its sub-stations in the19 90's due to  the 
higher current needed for  air conditioned trams. 

Robert Green listed the extant rotary converter installations in Melbourne tramway sub stations – 
2003, which included the following: 

• Ascot Vale sub station (1924) Decommissioned 2 No. 500kw rotary converters –  

• Brunswick Road sub station (established 1925 in part of old Brunswick cable tram engine 
house) 1 No. 500kw rotary converter 

• Glenhuntly sub station (established 1925 as part of Glenhuntly depot) 1 No. 500kw rotary 
converter 
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• Malvern sub station (established 1930 as part of Malvern depot) Decommissioned late 
1990s 2 No. 1,000kw rotary converters  

• Second hand RC installed at Preston and Brunswick, but now renewed 

With the establishment of the M&MBW, rationalising included the provision of new substations 
for the converted cable lines and new routes, and to systematise the distribution of power from 
the SEC Latrobe Valley generation with 12 new substations. In some cases the cable tram 
tunnels were reused for power cables. The South Yarra substation in Daly Street was one of the 
first projects carried out under the direction of MMTB architect, A.G. Monsborough.237 

The Clifton Hill cable depot also had a new substation installed next to the former Tramway 
board office. 

In order to reduce supervisory manpower requirements, the MMTB constructed remote control 
gear of its own design for its electrical substations, and achieved a capability such that almost 
100% of substation components could be built in-house. The main central control room was 
erected in Bouverie and Queensberry Streets Carlton, which was able to operate all the 
substations remotely. This provided a more reliable system and saved manpower. A secondary 
control room established for use in the event of damage from enemy air attack during the Second 
World War.  

 

 

Figure 125: Carlton  substation on Bouverie and Queensberry Streets 

                                                 

237 Bryce Raworth Pty Ltd, undated report, ‘2 Daly Street, South Yarra’ 
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Figure 126: Carlton, Central Control room 1930s 

 

s 

Figure 127: Carlton  Central Control room MMTB News 1.4. Nov-Dec1964 
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Figure 128: Melbourne tramway substations and connections in 1984 (copy provided by Robert Green) 
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6.3.7 Overhead, timing and communication 

Overhead wiring, are generally disregarded by most tram travellers (until that is, when the tram 
pole came unstuck and caused damaged, bringing the system to a halt). However, in many 
instances the overhead creates a very emblematic visual presence for the tramways, particularly 
where complex crossovers and turns require extensive wiring with the association stays, 
insulators brackets and cut off signs. The overhead depot was established in the former East 
Coburg tram depot in about 1965. 

The term "Tramway Square" relates to the section of the overhead wiring of electric trams and 
trains at level crossings where the insulated section in the "square" can be switched to RAIL or 
TRAM power as needed. The tram square itself is a bit of circuitry that allows the electrified 
train wires (1500v DC) to change to become tram wires (600v DC). This is because the wires 
cross, and so they can only be one or the other. The crossing at Kooyong retained a signal and 
box and derailing catch points were installed in case of a failure as a tram descended the hill 
towards the railway. All the crossings had catchpoints originally with about 10 such crossings 
existing at any one time. 

Switch gear for tramway overhead has been housed in cast iron cabinets from the MMTB period 
an earlier. These are generally positioned on the kerb near corners and are painted in the 
distinctive tramways green. 

 

Figure 129: MMTB electric control cabinets on Lonsdale Street  
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Figure 130: Preston and Malvern Tramway Trust electric control cabinets at Malvern tram museum – noet 
similarity to MMTB style.  

In an endeavour to improve punctuality of trams and to gauge how the service kept to timetables, 
the tramways introduced time recorders at critical points along routes.  The P&MTT installed a 
Bundy Clock at Kooyong Road which was probably the first in Melbourne.238 

Two types of Bundy clocks were used by the MMTB: Computing Tabulating Recording 
Company, and Cincinnati Time Recorder Company of Cincinnati Ohio, USA, mounted in the 
same type of protective metal case, painted standard MMTB tramway green. 

Tram drivers were issued with a Bundy key embossed with the depot letter and the run number 
for each shift. At each timing point, the driver would have to insert and turn the key to make an 
impression on paper tape which then printed both the time and the run number on the tape.239 

At least one Bundy clock is still in place (At the Domain Interchange) although with automatic 
vehicle monitoring transponders linked electronically back to central control centres they are no 
longer needed. A Bundy clock was restored in 2006 and placed in the Essendon Depot office to 
commemorate one hundred years of electric trams in Melbourne. 

                                                 

238 H S Dix Engineer and Manager, P&MTT Quarterly Report to 30/6/11, & 1/7/11. 
239 Russell Jones 2007, Keeping time: Bundy clocks in the MMTB, Friends of Hawthorn Tram Depot, 
http://www.hawthorntramdepot.org.au/papers/keepingtime.htm 
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Figure 131: Bundy Clock in South Melbourne?  (Source State Library Victoria) and example at Malvern tram 
museum. 

 

 

Figure 132: Clock at former terminus  
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6.4 Administration 

The management, administration and supervision of the tramways required its own office 
accommodation, which parallels the development and changes in the tramway systems. The 
MT&OC constructed a new and elaborate building in 1891 at 673 Bourke Street, as their new 
office at one of the two city cable tram termini. It was designed by architects Twentyman and 
Askew in a Gothic Revival style similar to the more elaborate Olderfleet-Rialto row in Collins 
Street. Coincidently, a small portion of the cable tram track remained buried in the asphalt 
outside in Bourke Street for decades after the system was scrapped, but was removed when the 
city circle tram route was created and the Bourke Street tram line joined Spencer Street for the 
first time. 

 

Figure 133: Melbourne Tramway And Omnibus Co Office 669 Bourke St (Photo National Trust Vic) 

With the establishment of the MMTB, the cable tram company offices were taken over, as were 
the various electric tramway trust offices at each depot. However, accommodation was not 
sufficient and new larger dedicated administrative offices were required. In 1937, a new 
headquarters building was erected in Little Collins Street to house the M&MBT centralising 
management, administrative and design functions. This was initially an adjunct to the existing 
offices at which the Board took over from the MT&OCo.  
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Figure 134 MMTB Traffic Office on Victoria Parade. 

In 1934 offices were also built at 93-103 Victoria Parade for the Board’s ‘Traffic Office” as part 
of the expansion and redistribution of various administrative functions.240 

 

Figure 135: MMTB Head Office, 616 Little Collins Street, 1937. (MMTB photograph  State Library & Google Street 
view) 

All these buildings survive although they are no longer in public ownership. 

 

                                                 

240 Fitzroy City of Yarra Review of Heritage Precincts  2007 
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6.5 Workshops and repair 

Tram Workshops were located on Holden Street at the corner of St. Georges Road Fitzroy, only 
the Substation remains as the site was demolished and sold 1937.241 

In the mid 1920s, the Board sought suitable space for constructing its own tramcars. Steel  
chassis and truck frames had already been manufactured at the Cable Repair Workshops at 
Nicholson Street North Fitzroy, wooden bodywork being done in temporary sheds behind the 
Fitzroy cable car shed,  painting and varnishing was carried- out at Preston and Glenhuntly 
Depots, and tenders let to private firms for completed bodies, while on the running maintenance 
and overhaul was conducted at workshops attached to the Malvern, Hawthorn, Coburg and 
Essendon Depots.  

 

Figure 136: cable trams in temporary storage at Nicholson Street Depot during conversion of tramlines to 
electricity Holden Street workshops c1940 (running Journal  

The Board considered that a single good workshop was desperately needed, and so a site was 
selected covering 17 acres at Preston opposite the Preston Depot. Tenders were let progressively 
for each building with the Paint and Car Erecting Shops completed early in 1925, together with 
their traverser. The main Store and Sub-station were erected in 1925-26, with the large building 
to house the Truck, wheel, Machine, Fitting and Electrical Shops, together with Traverser to the 
Car Shop, following during the third. quarter of 1926. Timber storage racks, Office block, 
Blacksmiths and Plate Shops, Foundry and Pattern Shop, were finished in the next few months, 
and finally the Mess Ha11 and its amenities. Preston became the most modern tramway 
workshop in Australia and absorbed the maintenance, overhaul and. new construction tasks for 
the whole system, the latter immediately consisting of W class cars for the cable conversions, 
and subsequently W1 and W2 types.242 One of the wheel lathes from the Preston workshops was 
later transferred to the St Kilda Tramway Museum, in Adelaide where it was kept in operation.243 

The Workshops also became a distinctive cultural element of the system, developing a 
workplace culture and standard of workmanship which gave the W class trams a special feel. 

                                                 

241 The Argus Monday 20 December 1937 p.2 
242 K S. Kings ‘50 years of the M.&.M.T.B’, Running Journal, Vol 6 No 3 Dec 1969. 
243 Pers. Com, Warren Doubleday, June 2011. 
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Aspects of this culture are evident in the oral traditions and characters of the workshops, such as 
Norm Cross, who may have been the inspiration for Malcolm in the film of the same name by 
Nadia Tass.244 The Tudor style “Melbourne Room” which provided a ball-room, theatre, concert 
and lecture hall for tram events, still features the gaily decorated stage that hosted 3DBs 
Lunchtime Funtime with Bill Collins. 

 

Figure 137: Track plan of Presto  Workshops.245 

6.6 Historical Collections 

Historical collections related to tramway history and tram rolling stock are currently fragmented 
with variable levels of conservation and management. There are several tramway and tram 
museum collections which contain historical records and objects in conjunction with their 
primary collection of historic rolling stock. These include the following. 

6.6.1 Tramway Museum Society of Victoria  

The Tramway Museum Society of Victoria was founded in 1962 with the aim of preserving, 
restoring and operating trams. It operates the Melbourne Tramway Museum, located at 330 
Union Lane, Bylands, Victoria, between Wallan and Kilmore. 

The museum houses a large and varied collection of trams from Melbourne, Ballarat, Bendigo 
and Adelaide, as well as preserved buses and other work vehicles. Electric trams operate along a 

                                                 

244 Kevin Murray, “Preston Tram Workshops, Life after Malcolm, Atlantis Found in Preston,” 
http://www.kitezh.com/trams/preston.htm 
245 VicSig, http://forums.vicsig.net/viewtopic.php?f=13&t=1540 
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1 km (1 mi) track, which was previously a part of the Heathcote Junction to Bendigo railway 
line. Besides the electric tram line, the Melbourne Tramway Museum also has a tramway electric 
supply substation, the William Street decorative overhead poles, the 1923 Batman Avenue 
shelter, various buildings for the storage of unrestored trams, cable tram cars and motor vehicles. 
It also has a visitor centre and exhibition shed and workshop. 

At least some of its rolling stock is on loan to other tram museum venues such as the Hawthorn 
Tram Depot  

6.6.2 Melbourne Tram Museum @ Hawthorn Depot 

The former Hawthorn Tram Depot became the venue for the State government owned historic 
tram fleet from 2002, when the depot site  was redeveloped partly for residential uses and partly 
as a permanent tram museum.  

The Friends of Hawthorn Tram Depot Incorporated (ABN 11 293 508 607) has been established 
by VicTrack to assist with the operation of the Melbourne Tram Museum @ Hawthorn Depot. It 
is a volunteer-based non-profit group established under the Victorian Incorporations Act 
(incorporation number A00467102). It is composed of representatives from VicTrack, Heritage 
Victoria, honorary appointees with recognised expertise in tramway history and preservation, 
and elected representatives of its volunteer workers (friends). 

VicTrack is the government-owned entity that manages the rail-based property and infrastructure 
owned by the State of Victoria, including many of its historic rail locations and heritage 
railway/tramway equipment. 

The collection includes the following trams: MT&OC cable tram set, HTT 8, HTT 32, NMETL 
13, VR 20, VR 53, MMTB L 104, MMTB L 106, MMTB S 164, MMTB T 180, MMTB X 217, 
MMTB W2 325, MMTB W 380, MMTB W1 431, MMTB Y 469, MMTB W2 510, MMTB Y1 
613, MMTB X2 676, MMTB W5 774, MMTB W7 1040, MMTB PCC 1041. 

 

6.6.3 Malvern Tramway Museum  

The Malvern Tramway Museum is housed in the former hall at Malvern Tram Depot in Stanhope 
Street. It contains a combination of TMSV loaned material, Public Records Office official 
deposits, VicTrack owned material, and private collection items. Ownership does not appear to 
be well documented in all cases, although records of the PRO transfer and TMSV loan material 
have come to light.246 

The TMSV Archive Collection was initiated by the late Bob Prentice in the 1960s and stored at 
his home in Prahran. At some stage all of the collection was handed over to the TMSV.  A 
collection of copy images of historic photographs, taken by Bob Prentice from many sources on 
behalf of the TMSV, were not the handed over and remained with Bob Prentice’s beneficiaries.  
 
Robert Green and possibly Keith Kings, were made the TMSV archivists and arrangements were 
made for the TMSV to obtain access to three disused upstairs rooms at the Malvern Depot in 
which to store the collection. A grant was also obtained to purchase appropriate archive storage 
equipment and a Federal government funded cataloguing kit. The collection was roughly sorted 

                                                 

246 Correspondence Robert Green 11/6/2011. 



Melbourne Metropolitan Tramway Heritage Study, Gary Vines 

B I O S I S  R E S E A R C H   1 6 7
   

out and stored in these rooms.   Norm Maddock subsequently took on the management and 
opening the museum in the former Stanhope Street hall, to the public. 
 
Following the abandonment of the old MMTB head office building, Kings and Green sorted and 
collected items from the basement of 673 Bourke Street. This material including books, plans, 
publications, official documents, reports etc. that the Public Records Office classed as Secondary 
Records.  

The TMSV was permitted to take and house any of these documents at its rooms at Malvern 
Depot under an agreement with the PRO, which appointed the rooms as a “Place of Deposit for 
sentenced temporary and duplicate records of the Metropolitan Transit Authority”.  Many boxes 
of records were thus taken to Malvern and stored. Also included was the A E Twentyman 
collection of cable tram material, which was acquired and transferred to the TMSV after his 
death. More recently funding was provided for a conservation assessment and some cataloguing, 
which it is understood was carried out by the VCCM, but was halted due to disagreements 
between the parties. 

6.6.4 University of Melbourne Archives 

Primary source of information on individual tramway employees and  union records, is also 
located in the University of Melbourne Archives, which has its primary store in Dawson Street 
Brunswick.. The records of the Australian Tramways and Motor Omnibus Employees' 
Association, the Australian Transport Officers' Federation - Victorian Division, Rail, Tram and 
Bus Union (RTBU) and its predecessors now form part of the Australian Trade Union Archives 
held by this institution. However, access to these records may be restricted to scholars, or require 
prior consent from the RTBU.247 

6.6.5 Public Record Office Victoria  

Victorian Archives Centre of the Public Record Office Victoria located in North Melbourne. 
Extensive collections of material related to the MMTB, its predecessors, and subsequent 
government transport operators. This includes a collection of transport related photographs 
which feature a number of tram related scenes. The collection can be searched to some extent on 
the PRO web site along with the photo collection.248 

6.6.6 National Film and Sound Archive 

Although there is no specific tram collection among the National Film and Sound Archive 
collection, the organisation preserves a number of reels of film related to Melbourne’s Trams, 
including rare footage or operating cable trams from the 1930s and the Hawthorn horse tram. 
These were compiled in a short documentary entitled Commuting by Cable (1988).249 

 

                                                 

247 University of Melbourne Archives, directory of holdings, 
http://www.lib.unimelb.edu.au/collections/archives/collections/unions.html 
248 Public Records Office Victoria, Guide to holdings,  Agency VA 2694  Melbourne and Metropolitan Tramways 
Board and related agencies. 
249 Production company Association of Railway Enthusiasts , Producer Rod Cook , Director Peter Henshaw ,  
Commuting by Cable (1988). http://aso.gov.au/titles/documentaries/commuting-cable/ National Film & Sound 
Archives 
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6.6.7 Bendigo Tramway Museum 

The Bendigo Tramway Museum & Depot houses a collection of trams and tramway memorabilia 
and operates the "Talking Tram" tour to The Central Deborah Gold Mine. The Bendigo 
collection is currently undergoing a cataloguing program.250 

6.6.8 Ballarat Tramway Museum 

The Ballarat Tramway Museum is a Volunteer run organisation involved in the preservation and 
operation of vintage trams. As well as the  tramcar collection (which  includes Ballarat Horse 
Tram No. 1, three Electric Supply Company of Victoria tramcar bodies, twelve tramcars which 
initially ran in Melbourne between 1913 and 1951, and three acquired directly from Melbourne 
by the Museum in 1975) it retains a depot with a museum display of photographs and tramway 
memorabilia. The Museum has prepared a collection policy which includes a “…large collection 
artefacts, photographs, oral histories, small items and parts, form a comprehensive sample of the 
materials needed to operate and maintain a public transport tramway system and the people who 
operated it or collected its history. They can be used as a research and interpretation facility for 
those interested in the social development of Ballarat and public transport development in 
conjunction with the generation of electricity in Victoria’s major provincial cities.”  251 

Types of objects in the collection include drawings, tickets, fare tokens, timetables, rulebooks, 
personnel records, operational paperwork, uniforms, Conductors’ bags, safeworking equipment, 
tramway street furniture (e.g. stop signs), record books, references used in the operation and 
maintaining the system, ancillary equipment such as a tower trucks. 

6.6.9 Melbourne Tramcar Preservation Association 

The Melbourne Tramcar Preservation Association was originally formed by a group of 
individuals in late 1974 as the Haddon Tramway Workshops, a registered business under which 
it was proposed to preserve historic tramcars. The collection includes, VR Tram 41, MMTB 
L103, MMTB W2 357, MMTB W2 407, MMTB W3 663, MMTB W4 670 and MMTB SW5 
849, as well as components and a stretch of powered track. 

6.6.10 Private collections 

There are a large number of collectors of tram memorabilia, objects and trams. A. E. Twentyman 
was a critical figure in saving material related to the cable tram system, including a number of 
tram cars. His collection was placed at the Malvern Tram Museum after his death. Keith Kings 
published extensively on tram history, relying on his vast collection of material, including 
extensive photographic material. 

Alan Bradley compiled a collection of historical material related to the Ballarat Tramways, in 
conjunction with his publications and work for the tramway museum. Peter Watson Duckett was 
one of Australia's pioneer tram enthusiasts and a foundation member of the Australian Electric 
Traction Association in 1943. His large collection of tram related books and magazines was 
housed in the Department of Transport Library. 

                                                 

250 http://www.collectionsaustralia.net/org/1202/about/ 
251 Ballarat Tramway Museum, Collection Policy 2009, prepared by W Doubleday. 
http://www.btm.org.au/documents/btmcollpol.pdf 
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Norm De Pomeroy was a Victorian Railways engine driver from Cressy, who compiled possibly 
the best collection of railway material in Australia. After his death in 2002, his collection was 
sold at auction and dispersed in various auctions from about 2005 to 2011.252 

Bob Prentice was a tram enthusiast who as well as compiling a large collection of tram related 
photographs and documents (including large albums of tram tickets) also owned VR tram 20,  
willing it to the state government. He willed his collection to John Phillips.  

Travis Jeffrey probably had Australia's best collection of tickets (particularly tram and bus 
tickets) and especially ticket machines. Most of his collection was put up for private auction in 
2007.253 

  

 

 

                                                 

252 Charles Leski Auctions, Auction Catalogue, Auction 263 
253 Charles Leski Auctions, Auction Catalogue, Railway Memorabilia, Auction No.316, December 2007, 
http://www.leski.com.au/news/20071019/index.php 


